1958

Hammond v. Calder

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action to impose a trust on certain mining claims and for an accounting of the proceeds. The trial court held in favor of the plaintiffs and respondents, and this appeal is taken from the judgment. The parties hereto are the heirs at law of one A. L. Tomlinson, deceased. The plaintiffs and respondents, who will hereafter be referred to as plaintiffs, are the brother and sisters of the defendant and appellant, who was the administrator of the estate of A. L. Tomlinson, deceased,

and will hereafter be referred to as defendant. The mining claims involved herein were known as the Camp Bird Nos. 1-14, and will be referred to herein as the Camp Bird claims. The question of the trust was tried before the court September 13, 14 and 15, 1954, and it is but a small part of the transcript. The matter of the accounting was tried in January and February of 1958, and accounts for the major part of the record. This appeal mainly concerns the issues relating to the trust. The transcript of the testimony is in two volumes. The volume relating to the testimony September 13, 14, and 15, 1954 will be referred to as Volume One and designated as, "(T1)". The volume relating to the testimony January and February, 1958, will be referred to as Volume Two and designated as, "(T2)".

The Camp Bird claims were originally located by the defendant, his father A.L. Tomlinson and the husbands of two of the plaintiffs, (T1. 43, 94, 248). At the time of his death, A. L. Tomlinson was the sole owner of the claims, the other locators having conveyed to him by quit claim deed. The petition for probate was filed in the Seventh Judicial Court, Emery County, Utah, in June of 1942, Probate No. 574, (Exh. 18) (T1. 150). One Alvin Wallace was appointed and qualified as administrator of the estate. The mining claims were subject to conflicting claims of other locators, and in 1942, the Tomlinson interest in the Camp Bird claims was reduced to 7.5 percent interest. The stipulation setting forth the interest is a part of Probate file No. 574, Exhibit 18.

Thereafter, the Tomlinson interest was reduced to 5 percent, (T1. 125). The 2.5 percent being conveyed to F. B. Hammond, attorney for the estate, in settlement of his claims, (Exh. 18) (T1 125). In February of 1949, the heirs compelled the removal of the administrator and the defendant, Leslie A. Tomlinson, was appointed. The inventory and appraisal filed in said probate proceeding listed the Camp Bird claims as the only asset of the estate, and the claims were appraised at a total value of \$2800.00. Prior to his appointment as administrator, the defendant had relocated the Camp Bird claims because there was doubt as to their validity, (T1. 250). Following his appointment, the defendant, as administrator, entered into several lease agreements for the purpose of mining the ore from the claims. These leases purported to lease the entire interest in the Camp Bird claims, (T1. 250), the administrator not being aware of the stipulation giving other parties 95 percent of the Camp Bird claims. These leases provided for the usual 15 percent royalty to be paid to the Tomlinson estate, and the Atomic Energy Commission, the only purchaser, was advised of the lease agreements, and all the royalty checks were paid to the estate bank account at Grand Junction, Colorado, (Exh. F) (T1. 251; T2. 114). As a result of these operations, \$7,329.80 in royalty monies had been paid into the estate account by April of 1950, (T1. 251-253).

In January of 1950, the defendant entered into a lease arrangement with E. G. Frawley, who assigned the lease to a corporation he organized under the name of

Continental Mining & Milling Company, hereafter referred to as Continental. The lease agreement (Exh. O) (T1. 251-258) recited matters relating to conflicting claims and the stipulation reducing the Tomlinson interest to 5 percent. This was the first the defendant knew of the stipulation, (T1. 257). The agreement contained the recital that the conflicts were without merit and that it was the intention to lease the entire interest in the Camp Bird claims. Upon these representations, the corporation agreed to clear the title. To facilitate the lease arrangement, the administrator obtained quit claim deeds from each of the heirs of the estate. These deeds are referred to as the 1950 deeds. The administrator wrote to the heirs advising them of the contemplated lease and requested the quit claim deeds. The defendant advised them that the claims would be held for their benefit as their interest might appear, (Exh. C). Shortly after the execution of the lease, the lessee, Continental, filed an action against the estate on the grounds that the title to the Camp Bird claims had been misrepresented. This action was never tried, (T1. 288). During the spring of 1950, a substantial part of the owners of other claims on Temple Mountain entered into a lease with Consolidated Uranium Mines, Inc., hereafter referred to as Consolidated, (T2. 122). These parties included some of the persons who had an interest in the Camp Bird claims under the stipulation of 1942 and others who claimed ownership of the ground by reason of conflicting claims, (T2. 122). In January of 1951, the defendant individually

and as administrator of the estate, signed a document purporting to be a joinder to the lease upon certain specific conditions, (Exh. R) (T2. 34). The conditions were that the corporation, subject to an action filed in the District Court of Emery County, Utah, Civil No. 1713, obtain from all the parties to the lease an acknowledgment of the Tomlinson 5 percent interest, and an agreement to pay all accrued royalties according to that interest. In December, 1951, the defendant individually and as administrator of the estate entered into a further stipulation with Therald Jensen and Frank Hanson, attorneys of Price, Utah, who represented the owners of 95 percent of the Temple Mountain property, (T2. 122-125). This stipulation reduced the interest of the Tomlinson estate to a 3.53 percent interest, and committed the Tomlinson interest to the May, 1950 lease with Consolidated, notwithstanding the joinder of January, 1951, (Exh. R). The stipulation and agreement also provided that because of litigation the funds were to be held in a trust account.

In the early part of 1951, the plaintiffs were dissatisfied with the estate, no distribution having been made, and they made repeated requests of the defendant to distribute the monies in the estate, (T1. 39). The defendant informed the plaintiffs that he could not distribute the estate until the conflicts were resolved and distribution was ordered by the court. This matter finally came to a head in June of 1952. Under date of June 2, 1952, the plaintiffs and their mother, Lilie M. Tomlinson, who was not a party to the action, executed quit claim deeds in favor of the defendant, (Exh. A-1 to A-7).

These deeds are referred to as the 1952 deeds. In February of 1953, upon due notice to the plaintiffs, the quit claim deeds were confirmed by the court and the property distributed to the defendant, (Exh. 18).

The plaintiffs had been dissatisfied with the estate matters since the commencement of the probate proceedings in June of 1942. This was the reason for the change of administrators in January of 1949. This dissatisfaction became acute in 1951, the plaintiffs demanding that the administrator distribute the estate property, (T1. 268, 269). To clarify the situation, C. Allen Elggren, the attorney for the estate, addressed a letter to the defendant explaining the controversies and possible liabilities of the estate by reason of the mining operations conducted by the defendant, (Exh. E). The letter was sent by the defendant to his mother in Fruita, Colorado, who in turn showed it to the plaintiffs, (T1. 183). Mrs. Cisney lived next door to Mrs. Tomlinson, and the other plaintiffs lived near by or frequently visiting their mother. This situation continued through 1951, and until the late spring of 1952 when the heirs became insistent that the estate be distributed, (T1. 268). The stipulation of December, 1951, had resolved certain of the conflicts, but the *Hunt v. Bitterbaum* case, Civil No. 1713, was still undecided and other conflicts were undetermined. The defendant and his mother, Lillie M. Tomlinson, testified that the heirs were told that the defendant could not distribute the estate and that the conflicts still hadn't been settled.

The defendant testified that none of the adverse claimants, including the parties to the stipulation and agreement of 1951, were aware of the amount of ore removed from the Camp Bird claims by the defendant in 1949 and 1950. The mother, Lilie M. Tomlinson, testified that the plaintiffs insisted that they take their share of the estate and convey the mining claims to the defendant upon the condition that if any monies were required to be repaid as a result of the conflicting claims, the defendant would assume that liability, (Tl. 192). It was also agreed that the defendant assume all expense relating to the mining claims, and would make no claim against the plaintiffs, (Tl. 269). As a result of these conversations, the attorney for the estate drafted the deeds and they were sent to Mrs. Tomlinson at Fruita. The defendant was not present when the plaintiffs executed the deeds except the plaintiff Alton Tomlinson, who testified that he signed the deed at his mother's home and that the defendant was asleep on the couch, (Tl. 108). All of the deeds were returned to C. Allen Elggren except one, and he sent them for recording. The one not returned to Mr. Elggren was the deed signed by Mrs. Cisney, which was recorded at her request, (Exh. A-2). At the time the petition for distribution was heard, Mrs. Lilie M. Tomlinson was present in court as well as the plaintiff Schockley and Mr. Lawrence Fuller, husband of the plaintiff Fuller. Mrs. Fuller and Mrs. Cisney both live in Fruita, Colorado, and testified that they had frequent conversations about the estate. All of the plaintiffs testified that after June of 1952, they did not evidence any further interest

until April, 1954, (T1. 180). At this time, they received a letter from John Lowe, one of the attorneys for plaintiffs, advising them that they had an interest in the Temple Mountain properties and that he could recover it for them, (T1. 64). This inquiry to the plaintiffs was made at the suggestion of Mr. Lawrence Migliaccio, (T2. 46). Mr. Migliaccio had been responsible for the reduction of the Tomlinson interest and was a constant antagonist of Mr. Frawley and Consolidated and other persons connected with that company, (T2. 45). The circumstances surrounding the contact with the plaintiffs is not entirely unlike the situation presented to this court in *Nokes v. Continental Mining and Milling Company*, 6 Utah 2d 177, 308 P. 2d 954.

Early in 1950, the defendant assisted Mr. E. G. Frawley, president of Consolidated, in an attempt to commit the various owners of the Temple Mountain properties to a lease with Consolidated, (T2. 125, 206-209). During this time, he assisted in locating other claims and relocating existing claims on Temple Mountain. He also worked as a foreman for Consolidated on Temple Mountain claims owned and located by that company and Continental. The defendants association with Mr. Frawley continued until 1953. In the fall of 1952, Mr. Frawley gave the defendant 32,000 shares of the common stock of Consolidated, (T1. 306). This stock was given by reason of the work he had done for Consolidated over the past two years. In 1953 and 1954, the defendant sold

the stock. The plaintiffs in their complaint asked that a trust be imposed on the proceeds of the sale of the stock.

The testimony of the plaintiffs relating to the circumstances surrounding the execution of the 1952 deeds adds up to one fact; they were completely ignorant of all matters relating to the estate and the properties of the estate. On direct examination, each testified that they did not know the condition of the estate, when it might be closed, their interest in the estate as an heir, the status of the titles of the mining claims, what claims were in the estate, the litigation with relation to the claims, the value of the mining claims, the extent that mining had been conducted on the claims, the amount of royalty paid into the estate nor the matters relating to the stock of Consolidated. This testimony is summarized on pages 26 to 30 of the transcript, Volume One. On cross examination, the plaintiffs testified that at the time they signed the 1952 deeds they had in mind that they had previously executed deeds, and the circumstances relating thereto, (T1. 47, 108). The plaintiff Cisney testified that she signed the deed believing it was required to enable the defendant to enter into a lease and that the defendant agreed to divide the claims equally, (T1. 43, 85). All of the other plaintiffs stated that they relied on what Mrs. Cisney had told them in executing the deeds, and specifically stated they did not rely on the defendant, (T1. 65, 77, 96, 132, 135). Each of them stated in identical words that the defendant had agreed to divide the claims

equally. On cross examination, the plaintiffs also admitted they were told the estate could not be distributed until the title and conflicting claims were settled, (T1. 96, 256, 265, 266). They also admitted that they knew there was \$5,000.00 or \$6,000.00 in the estate bank account, (T1. 73, 100), and they were entitled to an equal share in the claims as an heir, (T1. 44, 77). In executing the 1952 deeds, they stated that they did not read them except to note that the Camp Bird claims were listed, (T1. 52). During the trial in September, 1954, these plaintiffs claimed a privilege when asked if they had discussed the matters relating to the estate with their husbands. In subsequent hearings in January and February of 1958, Lawrence Cisney, the husband of Marguerite Cisney, took the stand as a witness on behalf of the plaintiffs. On cross examination, he admitted that he and his wife and the plaintiff Fuller were on the claims in 1950 and had talked to Mr. Frawley, (T1. 82); that Mr. Frawley told them they would soon begin to get something from the mining claims, (T2. 53). He also testified that they knew the claims had been leased to Consolidated and that the defendant had been promised some of Consolidated's stock by Mr. Frawley, (T2. 53). Of the matters which plaintiffs claimed they had no knowledge, only two are not admitted. These two matters are the status of the titles of the mining claims and the value of the mining claims. The defendant called as a witness Therald Jensen, an attorney of Price, Utah. He testified that the title of the Camp Bird claims was very questionable and he regarded them as having only a nuisance

value, (T2. 122). The only testimony in the record as to the value of the claims in 1952 is the amount of royalty that the mining operations had produced, a fact known to the plaintiffs. The defendant was asked if he knew the status of the titles of the mining claims and the value of the mining claims, over the objection of the defendant that this called for a conclusion, the defendant testified that he was advised that the validity of the Camp Bird claims was questionable, (T1. 275). He further stated that he did not have any idea as to the value of the mining claims, (T1. 275). As to all matters the plaintiffs admitted or it was shown by evidence that they had equal knowledge with the defendant. While five of the six plaintiffs were women, three of them, Beebe, Cisney and Fuller, were married to men who had an acquaintance with mining activities, two of whom had been locators of the Camp Bird claims. One of the plaintiffs was in business for herself, (T1. 133), and all the others had an education superior to that of the defendant, (T1. 248). The plaintiff Alton Tomlinson was a rancher and admitted familiarity with business dealings and the manner in which real estate is transferred and the effect of a quit claim deed, (T1. 107-110). The defendant was a carpenter by trade, having little or no formal education. His first contact with mining was after the death of his father when he attempted to relocate the claims. He had no experience which qualified him as a business man, earning his livelihood as a manual laborer, (T1. 247, 248). The plaintiffs referred to him as, "Tight old Les." In contrast to the testimony of the plaintiffs, their mother,

Lilie M. Tomlinson, related the conversations she had with Cisney and the other plaintiffs. She testified that it was the understanding of everyone that they were conveying the claims to Les for whatever he might gain or lose, and they were not to be responsible in any way, (T1. 190). In their complaint, the plaintiffs did not join Mrs. Tomlinson as a party plaintiff, but in the prayer of the complaint asked that the trust be imposed upon the mining claims for her benefit. Mrs. Tomlinson refused to be a party, and the complaint was amended eliminating her from the prayer for relief, (R. 9). The evidence in the accounting introduced by the plaintiffs disclosed the liability which the estate was subject to on June 2, 1952. The plaintiffs own accounting claimed \$16,000.00 should have been paid to the estate as royalties to May, 1950, (Exh. N). At that time, it was undisputed and admitted by all of the plaintiffs that they knew that the Tomlinson interest had been reduced to 5 percent. Of the amount of royalty claimed according to plaintiffs evidence, they are only entitled to \$800.00, the remaining belonging to the parties to the 1942 and 1951 stipulations. The \$16,000.00 royalty was based on contracts providing for a payment of 15 percent of the mill returns. Therefore, the plaintiffs evidence show that the estate was liable for over \$100,000.00 by reason of the trespass if the title to the Camp Bird claims was upset. The plaintiffs never stated that the disclosure of any of the facts claimed to have been withheld would have compelled them to act differently.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE CONCLUSIONS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT A TRUST WAS CREATED MUST BE REVERSED AS A MATTER OF LAW.

POINT II.

A TRUST CANNOT BE IMPOSED ON PROPERTY WHICH IS NOT PART OF THE ESTATE AND WAS NOT IN EXISTENCE AT THE TIME THE TRUST WAS CREATED.

POINT III.

THE PLAINTIFFS ARE GUILTY OF LACHES AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO EQUITABLE RELIEF.

POINT IV.

THE PROBATE DECREE IS RES JUDICATA AND IS NOT SUBJECT TO COLLATERAL ATTACK.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE CONCLUSIONS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT A TRUST WAS CREATED MUST BE REVERSED AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The consideration of the correctness of the trial court's conclusion with respect to the trust has several facets. First, the nature of the trust, secondly, the fiduciary relationship of the parties, and thirdly, the character of the evidence required to sustain the conclusion of the trial court.

The nature of the trust imposed in the instant case, is found in conclusions 1, 2, and 3 of the Conclusions of Law, (R. 91, 92). In conclusions 1 and 2, the court concluded that the defendant held the property upon an express trust for the benefit of the plaintiffs. In conclusion 3, the court concluded that the defendant held the property upon a constructive trust for the benefit of the plaintiffs. It is difficult to understand how an express and constructive trust can exist at the same time, as to the same property and for the benefit of the same persons. The distinctions between the trusts are clear and the creation of one must necessarily negative the creation of the other. The distinctions are spelled out in *IV Scott on Trusts*, sec. 462.1, pp. 3104, 3105:

“Sec. 462.1. Constructive trusts distinguish-
ed from express and resulting trusts. An express
trust is a fiduciary relationship with respect to
property, arising as a result of a manifestation
of an intention to create it and subjecting the per-
son in whom the title is vested to equitable duties
to deal with it for the benefit of others. On the
other hand, a constructive trust arises where a
person holding title to property is subject to an
equitable duty to convey it to another on the
ground that he would be unjustly enriched if he
were permitted to retain it. In both cases the
person who has the title to the property is under
an equitable duty to deal with it for the benefit
of another person. To this extent the two types
of trust are similar. In other respects, however,
they differ. An express trust arises because the

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