1958

Original Brief submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services through the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library, and sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors. Colton & Hammond; Van Cott, Bagley, Cornwall & McCarthy; Sterling D. Colton; Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent.

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT ONE

THE RULING OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANT HOLDS THE MINING PROPERTIES CONVEYED TO HIM BY PLAINTIFFS IN TRUST FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF PLAINTIFFS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

In his brief appellant contends that the conclusions and judgment of the trial court that defendant holds the mining properties received by him in trust for plaintiffs must be reversed as a matter of law.

He discussed several propositions in this connection which will be discussed in the order presented by appellant.

(a) Defendant argues that an express trust and a constructive trust cannot exist as to the same property at the same time. Without pursuing the academic considerations raised by this argument, the question may be resolved simply by an examination of the Conclusions of the trial court whereby it can readily be seen that this is not the position taken by the court.

It concluded in paragraphs one and two of the conclusions that an express trust arose under both the 1950 and the 1952 deeds. There can be no question as to the correctness of the conclusion that the conveyance of the mining claims under the 1950 deeds was under an express trust, since this was admitted by defendant (T-1, p. 2-5). The conclusion that an express trust arose under the 1952 deeds results from the Court finding that in obtaining

the 1952 deeds defendant declared he would hold the mining properties for the use and benefit of plaintiffs and in trust for them (Finding Nos. 33, 34). That this finding was amply supported by the evidence will be discussed hereafter.

In Conclusion 3, the Court said :

“Because of his fiduciary position as administrator of the Tomlinson Estate, and as trustee under the 1950 deeds, and because of the trust and confidence placed in him as plaintiff’s brother, defendant owed to plaintiffs and each of them the duty of dealing with them with absolute fairness. *If* defendant, in obtaining the deeds from plaintiffs in June of 1952, intended to acquire their interests for himself and not in trust for plaintiffs, he owed them the duty of fully disclosing to them all material facts known to him which would have any bearing upon plaintiffs’ decision to convey their interest. Since he failed to disclose the matter set forth in Finding of Fact No. 37, all of which are material facts, *if* he intended to obtain their interest absolutely and not in trust for plaintiffs, he *would have been* taking unfair advantage of plaintiff’s trust and confidence in him and in violation of his fiduciary duties, so that, *apart from any express trust*, a constructive trust for plaintiffs’ use and benefit *would* result.” (Emphasis added.)

From this it can be readily seen that the Court concluded that there was an express trust, but that even without the statement of defendant that he would hold the property in trust for plaintiffs under the evidence presented to the Court, the transaction was so unfair and there was such a lack of disclosure of the material

facts which defendant was under a duty to disclose, that a constructive trust would result from the transaction.

It is well settled in the law that whenever a fiduciary attempts to obtain the property in his trust from the beneficiary, he must disclose to the beneficiaries all the material facts which he knows or should know, must not use the influence of his position to induce the consent of the beneficiary, and the transaction must be in all respects fair and reasonable. 2 *Scott on Trusts*, Sec. 170.25, p. 909; Sec. 170, p. 856.

(b) Appellant next argues that respondents did not in fact have trust and confidence in defendant, and claims they were negligent in not checking up on their brother. This is contrary to Finding of Fact Nos. 34 and 44, and the evidence of plaintiffs. Further, it ignores the duties imposed as a matter of law upon persons acting in fiduciary capacities which regulate their conduct. It is submitted that a more rigid fiduciary duty than that which appellant had to respondents is hard to imagine. It flows from three separate and distinct sources: (1) Defendant's duty as administrator of the Tomlinson Estate; (2) Defendant's duties as trustee under the express trust created at the time the 1950 deeds were obtained, and (3) the duties arising from the confidential relationship existing between members of a family.

Indicative of the duty which defendant owed plaintiffs arising out of these fiduciary relationships is the statement of Justice Cardozo in the case of *Meinhard v. Salmon*, 249 N.Y. 458, 464, 164 N.E. 545, 62 A.L.R. 1, quoted in 2 *Scott on Trusts*, p. 909, where he said:

“Many forms of conduct permissible in a workaday world for those acting at arm’s length, are forbidden to those bound by fiduciary ties. A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals of the market place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor the most sensitive, is then the standard of behavior. As to this there has developed a tradition that is unending and inveterate. Uncompromising rigidity has been the attitudes of courts of equity when petitioned to undermine the rule of undivided loyalty by the ‘disintegrating erosion’ of particular exceptions. Only thus has the level of conduct for fiduciaries been kept at a level higher than that trodden by the crowd. It will not consciously be lowered by any judgment of this court.”

Defendant’s argument as to the fiduciary relationship appears to lack only the words “caveat emptor” in being a complete renunciation of the fundamental duties of a fiduciary. His argument proceeds from a premise which is contrary to the findings of fact of the trial court relative to plaintiffs’ reliance upon defendant, and then continues that the lack of knowledge of plaintiffs was due to their negligence. The argument ignores the fact that even defendant’s testimony did not demonstrate that he had disclosed to plaintiffs that he had been getting money on side deals from the lessees, that he had made substantial sums of money subleasing the property from Continental, that Continental was giving him \$23,000 worth of stock, that he had passed on to them what information he had upon which an opinion of the value of the claims could be based testifying that he told them the value couldn’t be determined. He misrepresented to them

that the money in the estate might have to be given back because of the Migliaccio group's assertions in the lawsuit. From defendant's own testimony, if it were believed in its entirety, there would be established a case for the imposition of a constructive trust arising out of defendant's fiduciary duties.

(c) In his third proposition, appellant argues that the character of plaintiff's evidence is such as requires a reversal of the trial court's ruling.

He argues that plaintiffs had a burden of proving its case by clear and convincing evidence, supposing that the problem is one of establishing defendant's fraud. Rather than the plaintiffs having to prove their case by clear and convincing evidence, the burden of proof is upon the defendant to establish the adequacy of the consideration for the purchase and the fairness of the transaction.

In 33 C.J.S. 1283, Executors and Administrators, Sec. 268 (2) relative to purchases by executors or administrators from heirs, it is said that the court should "strongly presume against the validity of such a purchase and require the fiduciary to show affirmatively adequacy of consideration and the general fairness of the transaction".

In *Ehregren v. Gronlund*, 19 Utah 411, 57 Pac. 268, p. 270, this Court quoted from *Jones v. Lloyd*, 117 Ill. 597, 7 N.E. 119, as follows:

"Where a trustee sets up a bargain with his cestui que trust, or a release from him, the burden of proof is upon the former to vindicate the transaction from any shadow of suspicion, and to show

that it was perfectly fair and reasonable in every respect.”

In *Burns v. Skogstad, Idaho*, 206 Pac. 2d 765 at 769, in a case remarkably close to the case at bar, the Court said:

“\* \* \* it was the duty of the executor in dealing with these legatees to make a full disclosure of all relevant facts and to treat them with utmost frankness. 3 Bogart Trusts and Trustees, Sec. 493 and 544. The burden was upon the defendants to show that this duty was performed. This the defendants have not done. The record is silent as to what disclosures, in any, were made by the executor as to the condition, or value of the estate, or as to the interests of the legatees therein.”

Defendant in his brief cites a comment of the trial judge relative to the burden of proof, and says this was made in his oral decision. Respondents submit that appellant has taken this statement out of context. The comment was made during an oral discussion between the court and counsel at the second hearing, some eighteen months after the initial hearing, as the Court was refreshing its recollection as to what defendant should account for. It had nothing to do with the clarity or convincingness of the proof of establishing a trust.

Respondents contend that they have more than carried any burden of proof they might have had in establishing the existence of an express trust arising out of the 1952 deeds, and that defendant did not sustain his burden of proof that the transaction was completely fair and made after a full disclosure of all material facts.

(d) Although defendant does not argue that the evidence presented at the hearing does not support the findings of fact of the trial court, and in fact ignores entirely that the court made any findings of fact, he does argue the matter of the weight which should be given to plaintiffs' evidence. He categorically states that plaintiffs were advised as to all material facts except the value of the interest in the claims and the title situation without explaining upon what he bases this statement. The Court found that the disclosure of a large number of material facts was not made by defendant prior to obtaining the 1952 deeds (Finding No. 37). This finding was consistent with the testimony and evidence offered by plaintiffs. Counsel for defendant at the trial stipulated that plaintiff Cisney didn't know anything about the matters (T-1, p. 20) but in his brief argues that she did know of all material facts save the two mentioned.

It is well settled that although this court on appeal will review the evidence, it will not disturb the findings of the trial court unless they are against the weight of the evidence. *Shaw v. Jeppson*, 121 U. 155, 239 P. 2d 745.

(e) Defendant argues that although there need not be consideration for the 1952 deeds to be effective, in fact there was consideration because defendant agreed to protect the plaintiffs from any judgment or demand and to repay any funds ordered repaid by the Court, and to bear all expenses of the estate. Finding of Fact No. 45, which is supported by the Record of Civil No. 1713, shows no adverse claims were ever asserted against defendant. Finding No. 49 which is supported by the evidence, shows

that defendant did not agree with plaintiffs to assume the costs and expenses of the probate of the estate, nor agree to repay any funds. If defendant had undertaken these things as he contends, he would have been under the additional duty to tell the heirs that the 1951 stipulation and agreement in Civil No. 1713 had waived any claim for accountings (Ps'. Exh. F) and that Continental Mining and Milling Company had agreed to pay the expenses, and to hold them harmless from any demands for ores removed from the claims (Ps'. Exh. O.). As set forth above, the question is not whether there was consideration, but whether the fiduciary has vindicated a self dealing transaction "from any shadow of suspicion" and shown that "it was perfectly fair and reasonable in every respect." *Ehregren v. Gronlund*, 19 Utah 411, 57 Pac. 268.

(f) Defendant argues that the statute of frauds prohibits the creation of an express trust. The statute of frauds is an affirmative defense and must be pleaded. It was not pleaded and was therefore waived. Rule 8(e) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Further, when the parties are in a confidential relationship to one another, the courts will enforce an oral promise to hold property in trust even in the absence of fraud on the part of the promisor. 1 *Scott on Trusts*, Sec. 442, p. 322.

## POINT TWO

THE REQUIREMENT THAT DEFENDANT ACCOUNT TO PLAINTIFFS FOR THE PROCEEDS DERIVED FROM THE SHARES OF STOCK RECEIVED BY HIM WAS PROPER.



Defendant argues that a trust cannot be imposed on property which is not a part of the estate and which was not in existence at the time the trust was created. His argument relates to the court's order requiring defendant to account to plaintiff's for the proceeds derived by defendant on the sale of the 32,500 shares of stock received by defendant from Continental Mining and Milling company.

The trial court held that the stock was received by defendant as a result of his dealings with the mining property, and was in lieu of the 65,000 shares of stock which defendant was to receive under the January 1950 agreements. The court did not hold that a trust existed over the stock itself. Rather it held that defendant was trustee of the mining properties, and must account to plaintiffs for all things derived therefrom. This in essence is a holding that the income and profits derived from trust assets must be accounted for by a trustee.

Just as appellant argues, there must be a trust res in order for a trust to exist. In this case, the trust res consisted of the mining properties. It is obvious that there is no rule of law that income or accretions from the trust res must be in existence at the time the trust is created in order to be a part of the trust. In this case, defendant might just as well argue that he is not accountable for the royalties derived from the mining claims since they were not in existence at the time of the creation of the trust.

See 2 *Scott on Trusts*, Sec. 203, p. 1093, quoted below.

There is no issue as to whether or not the stock was

given as a result of defendant's dealing with the mining property. By his answer defendant admitted this was the case (R. 16; 24) and the Court so found.

### POINT THREE

PLAINTIFF ARE NOT GUILTY OF LACHES IN ASSERTING THEIR RIGHTS.

Defendant argues that plaintiffs are barred by laches. This defense was not raised by defendant in the court below and for this reason cannot be presented to the court on appeal for the first time. Further, laches is an affirmative defense which must be pleaded. Rule 8(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The evidence at the hearing discloses that plaintiffs did not delay in filing suit. It was not until June of 1954 that plaintiffs learned defendant was not recognizing the trust (T-1, pp. 30, 64, 84, 104, 139). Suit was commenced September 24, 1954.

2 *Scott on Trusts*, Sec. 219.2 states:

“A beneficiary is not barred by laches from holding a trustee liable for breach of trust if he did not know or have reason to know of the breach of trust.”

Defendant had made a payment to plaintiffs as late as November 31, 1953, and they would have no reason to know of any breach of trust prior to that time.

Defendant does not show a change of position, his argument boiling down to the statement that plaintiffs were “negligent” in trusting defendant. This suit is evidence of the fact that they should not have trusted

their brother, but this is certainly not a basis for applying the doctrine of laches.

#### POINT FOUR

THE MATTERS RAISED IN THIS ACTION WERE NOT BEFORE THE PROBATE COURT AND THE DECREE OF DISTRIBUTION IS NOT RES JUDICATA IN THIS ACTION.

Defendant argues that the probate decree in the Tomlinson estate is res judicata and determinative of the rights of the parties in this action. Judge Keller was sitting as the trial judge in this action and was the probate judge in the Tomlinson estate matter.

In his findings in this case he ruled, and we submit correctly so, that all the probate decree did was to pass *legal* title from the deceased to the grantee of all of the heirs. He said:

“There was nothing in these probate proceedings which would make plaintiffs aware of any contention on the part of the defendant as to the equitable ownership of the claims, but they would be aware only that defendant was having distributed to him the legal title to the claims in the estate.”

He ruled further that the matter and things contained in plaintiff's complaint and amended complaint were not before the court on that hearing and plaintiffs were not aware of any contention of defendant relative to his owning the equitable title until after the decree was entered in the probate proceedings and after the distribution of monies to them by defendant in December of 1953.

Both the 1950 and 1952 deeds were given to defendant so that he could handle the property unfettered by the problems of joint ownership. To have the distribution made to himself as grantee under the deeds was certainly a material requirement of this design, in that without this he could not negotiate with the property without getting confirmation of the probate court since the legal title to the property would be in the decedent's name.

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